
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Q&A table regarding technical specification (Employer’s requirements) in accordance with point 5.6 of Terms of Tender. 

 

Please also refer to point II.1.C of the Notice: Detailed technical specification (Employer’s requirements) constitute an integral part of the Tender Documentation 

and is available in the registered office of the Ordering Party and, at Bidder’s written request, shall be sent to the Bidder by post or e-mail by the expiry of the bids’ 

submission date set out in point 6.12 of the Terms of Tender. 

TENDER 

01/EU/2018/IMV 

REGARDING PURCHASE AND DELIVERY OF 25 CAONTAINER TERMINAL 

TRACTORS (IMV) 



 

 

  Question 

  

Answer 

 

1 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

3. Delivery and assembly 

 

Is it possible to extend time for minor assembly works after 

delivery for 6 hours (to be able to assembly Hectronic and other 

electrical details)? 

  Yes – we do accept 6  hours 

 

2 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

4. General requirements 

 

Would a fifth wheel capacity of 34 ton be acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept 34 ton 

 

3 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.1. Engine 

 

Would Engine power min 160 kW be acceptable ? 

  Yes – we do accept 160 kW 

 

4 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.1. Engine 

 

Is it Start/Stop button on engine acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept  button  “Start/Stop” on engine 

 

5 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.4.2. Rear Axle 

 

Would Rear axle load 50T @ static, 38T @ 20 km/h be 

acceptable? 

  Please specify what is the maximum Rear Axle load at 30 km/h 

 
6 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 

  Please follow our specification.  



 

 

Fixed steering wheel allowed? 

We do not accept your proposal.  The steering wheel should be 

adjustable. 

 

7 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.7. Fifth wheel 

  

We understand the fith wheel should be fixed and not lifting? 

However in paragraph 2.1 it is mentioned the it should be 

possible to connect to a trailer without leaving the cabin. 

However with fixed fifth wheel it is not possible to lift the trailer 

from its legs. Also it is mentioned we should be able to lower the 

trailer on its legs in order to detach. Please state clearly if the 

fifth wheel should be able to lift of if it should be fixed to the 

chassis 

  The fifth wheel should be fixed to the chassis and not lifting. 

 

8 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.7. Fifth wheel 

 

In case fifth wheel is fixed to the chassis then please state the 

exact required fifth wheel height based on current trailers. 

  Please follow our specification - 4. General requirements 

 

5th wheel height from the ground level: 1200mm    

 

9 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

Glove box for log book not possible in combination with foldable 

seat. 

Is it acceptable? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal.   

 

10 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

Turn indicator should be visible from the rear of vehicle even 

with container loaded. How does this work when there is a 

trailer behind the tractor. Are there direction indicators installed 

  Please follow our specification – 5.11.  Operator’s cabin. 

“Vehicle equipped with turn indicators on the mirror brackets or 

other visible places on the sides of the vehicle” 



 

on the trailer that van be controlled via ISO 1185 connector? 

Please specify. 

 

 

11 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

Roof window dimensions: 1255x220 mm (see attachement) 

Would it be acceptable? 

 

  Yes – we do accept roof window dimensions: 1255x220 mm 

 

12 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

Sun curtain for 1255x220 roof window is not available. 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal.  The sun curtain should cover all 

the roof window. 

 

13 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

What is mean: roof of operator’s cabin with protective screen 

made of min 4mm steel flats? 

  It is about safety guard all over the roof – i.e.: 



 

 

 

14 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS,  

5. Main equipment, 5.11. Operator’s cabin 

 

Security system against unauthorized IMV usage.  

Could you please provide information about existing system in 

use on DCT by current IMV trucks (name / brand, type)? 

  We do not require it anymore. It was removed from specification 

 

15 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.1. General Information 

 

Required: Ignition key fully compatible with typew 014603 – 

NOT POSSIBLE 

Proposal: Ignition key and door key are not the same. 2 separate 

keys are supplied with the tractor. 

Ignition Key is standard XXXXXX Key 

Would it be acceptable? 

  We do accepted 2. separate  keys, but the ignition key must be fully 

compatible with type 014603 

 
16 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.2. Lighting 

  Please follow our specification:  



 

 

LED beacon lamp on the roof demonstrating seatbelt is fastened. 

We have this option available with a green continuous burning 

light. Would this be a suitable solution? 

“LED beacon lamp on the roof, amber colour, demonstrating that 

seatbelt is fastened, i.e.: ON when the seatbelt is connected 

(locked)” 

We do not accept your proposal.   

 

 

 

17 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.3. Electrical equipment in the driver;s cabin 

 

1x 12V accessory socket and 1x 24V accessory socket 

Is it acceptable? 

  Please follow specification. 

“Two power cables with 12 [V], 10 [A] DC should be provided for 

installation place of IT equipment (as mentioned above). There 

should be a separate circuit from the fuse box with its own fuse”. 

We do not require accessory sockets but separate cables ready to 

be terminated with plugs specific to the installed equipment. 

 

18 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.3. Electrical equipment in the driver;s cabin 

 

Standard DIN radio mounting slot within drivers reach - 2 DIN 

slots are installed in the compartment underneath the cabin 

roof. 

 

  Yes – we do accept. 12V power should be provided to the 

compartment. 

 

19 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.4. Operator’s dashboard – electrical 

equipment 

 

Differential mechanism lock  is not present since the Kessler 

limited slip differential works automatically. 

  Please clarify how does it work. 

 

20 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.4. Operator’s dashboard – electrical 

equipment 

 

2 position switch for lowering rear suspension - this button has 

a spring return operation. Would it be OK? 

  Yes – we do accept the button with a spring return.  



 

 

21 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

6. Electrical Part, 6.4. Operator’s dashboard – electrical 

equipment 

 

Required is: Manual engage of lubrication system  

At XXXXXX lubrication system works automatically. Would it be 

acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept the automatically working system. 

 

22 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

8. Diagnostic Tools 

 

No additional diagnostic tools required.  

Accounts for Parts Online are available 

  Please refer to point 8. There should be possibility to calibrate 

sensors, transmission and other calibrated devices, maintain 

vehicle and i.e. to do SCR or DPF regeneration without additional 

services. 

 

23 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

10. Technical documentation 

 

Drawings diagrams general assembly drawings will be provided 

in PDF format on CD.  

Terbeg will not deliver these in AutoCAD format or in any 3d 

drawing format. 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept PDF’s under the condition of printing possibility 

in a good quality in A1 format  

 

24 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

10. Technical documentation 

 

Main documentation of IMV is delivered in Polish language. 

Only drivers manual is supplied in Polish. Parts and maintenance 

manuals only in English.  

Engine, transmission and axle supplier do not provide their 

manuals in Polish. 

Is it acceptable this point to provide documentation from 

engine, transmission and axle components in English? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal. 



 

 

25 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, 

II. Options 1. Trainings 

 

The subject of the contract is purchase and delivery of: 

19 pcs 2x4 Terminal tractors, 4 pcs 4x4 RoRo Terminal tranctors, 

2 pcs 4x4 HD RoRo Terminal tractors 

 

Question: do you required separate training sessions for each 

type of truck? So totally 3 x training session according to each 

Technical Specification and requirements? 

  We do require separate training sessions for each type of truck.  

 

26 

2x4 IMV TRACTORS, (others) 

 

Is it required tire monitoring system. Is this mandatory or a nice 

to have? 

  The tire monitoring system is mandatory. 

 

27 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

2.1 OPERATION 

 

PCE connector ?  

Please provide more information on the PCE32A socket which is 

required in the front bumper.  

I think it is for snowplow? We can install 24V Natto, Rema or 

Herman Anderson socket. Is it ok to install higher fuse than 32A 

  It shall be a PCE, 32A, 24V, 2PIN, IP67, socket.  

We do accept installing fuse higher than 32A. 

 

28 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

4 General requirements 

 

Required is lowest 5th wheel height of 929 mm.  

This is not possible because the requested 11R22.5 tire is has an 

outside diameter of 1058 mm = this means the 925mm is just 

impossible.   

The lowest we can get with an 11R 22.5 is 1118mm without 

mudguards and 1178mm with mudguards.  

  We do accept the lowest 5th wheel height of 1178 mm.  

The mudguards should be plastic. 



 

Please not that I could not find specified mudguards in the 

technical requirement (plastic or steel) 

What would be acceptable? 

 

29 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

4 General requirements 

 

XXXXXX have a combi tank for Fuel/hydraulic oil. Required is a 

fuel tank of minimum 220 liter and a 100 liter hydraulic oil tank. 

We can offer the following (fuel/hydraulic): 

o 200ltr/105ltr 

o 280ltr/82ltr 

o 145ltr/221ltr 

Is there a reason of requirement this much hydraulic oil? If there 

are no auxiliaries the only hydraulic systems on the tractor will 

consist of the steering and lifetable fifth wheel. For these two 

systems we are certain we don’t need a 100 liter tank.  

In paragraph 5.11 it is stated the hydraulic tank should be a 

minimum of 50 liter. 

What would be acceptable? 

  We do accept 280 liter fuel tank and 82 liter hydraulic oil tank. 

 

 

30 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

4 General requirements 

 

Required is: fire extinguisher with weight ca. 6 kg. 

We can fit 2kg inside the cabin and 6 kg on the chassis (stairs) 

the 6kg canister is to large to fit inside the cabin without 

interfering with the seat rotating mechanism. 

What would be acceptable? 

  We do accept, however a 6 [kg] fire extinguisher shall be 
fixed in hard-shell PE case with latches (without access key). 

 

 

31 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

4 General requirements 

 

  If there are lashing eyes, they should be painted RAL 1026. If tractor is 

not equipped with lashing eyes, but have threaded ports for them, those 

ports should be marked around in RAL1026. 



 

Lashing eyes. We can provide stickers marking the standard 

lashing eyes on the chassis. In case actual lifting eyes are 

required these can be mounted as a separate option. 

 
 

    

 

33 

4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 

5 Main equipment 

 

Engine: required is: min 165 kW 

Could be acceptable delivery of 160 kW engine? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal. 

 33 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment 

 

Start/Stop button on engine? 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept  button  “Start/Stop” on engine 

 34 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.2 Transmission 

 

Required is: adjustable loudness of warning buzzer 

We don’t have a adjustable buzzer. You can choose between 

90 dB and 102 dB 

What would be preferred and acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept  and we prefer 102 dB 

 35 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.3 Torque transfer case 

 

  Yes – we do accept it. 



 

Required is 2x4 and 4x4 switch? 

 We have a torque transfer case that in normal conditions is 

sending 30% of the torque to the front wheels and 70% of the 

torque to the rear wheels. With a button on the dashboard you 

can lock the distribution of torque between the front and rear 

Axle (50% front and 50% rear) 

Would it be acceptable? 

 36 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.5 Axle 

 

Required is 50 degrees steering angle.  

For the RT XXXXXX has a steering angle of 47 mm. 

Would it be acceptable? 

  I think it was supposed to be 47 degrees, not 47 mm.  
 

Yes – we do accept 47 degrees steering angle. 

 37 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.5 Axle 

 

Rear axle load 50T @ static, 38T @ 20 km/h 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Please specify what is the maximum Rear Axle load at 30 km/h 

 38 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 

 

Turn indicator should be visible from the rear of vehicle even 

with container loaded. How does this work when there is a 

trailer behind the tractor. Are there direction indicators 

  Please follow our specification – 5.11.  Operator’s cabin. 

“Vehicle equipped with turn indicators on the mirror brackets or 

other visible places on the sides of the vehicle” 



 

installed on the trailer that van be controlled via ISO 1185 

connector?  

Please specify. 

 

 39 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.6 Wheels 

 

Are industrial tyres neccassry?  

Our stock tire is Goodyear 11 R22.5 REG RHD2.  

We can deliver Michelin x Terminal T tires against surplus 

price. 

Would you please answer what is acceptable? 

  We do accept tires Goodyear 11 R22.5 REG RHD2 

 40 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

For the seatbelt we have to signal light systems. The first has 

a green indicator light on the cabin that shows the seatbelt is 

fastened. The second has a red flashing light on the cabin that 

shows the seatbelt is not fastened. Please choose one of these 

options. 

  Please follow our specification:  

“LED beacon lamp on the roof, amber colour, demonstrating that 

seatbelt is fastened, i.e.: ON when the seatbelt is connected 

(locked)” 

We do not accept your proposal.   
 



 

 41 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

We have a foldable instructor seat. However when unfolded it 

is no longer possible to turn the driver seat. Also I advise to 

install these only on a small number of tractors due to the 

price. Please advise. 

  We do require a foldable instructor seat in all tractors. 

 42 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

Rear window is not available heated. 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal.  Rear window should be heated. 

 43 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

Ignition key and door key are separate. 

Would it be acceptable? 

  We do accepted 2. separate keys, but the ignition key must be fully 

compatible with type 014603 

 44 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

Sunroof 800mm wide 380mm long. Is this acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept sunroof dimensions: 800x380 mm 

 45 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

  It is about safety guard all over the roof. i.e.: 



 

 

What is meant with protective screen made of min 4mm steel 

flats? 

 

 46 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

5 Main equipment, 5.12 Operator’s Cabin 

 

Please see attached RDT solutions for mounting IT 

equipment. 

  Option 1 and 3 is ok for us. 
 

 47 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 

 

Required: Ignition key fully compatible with typew 014603 – 

NOT POSSIBLE 

Proposal: Ignition key and door key are not the same. 2 

separate keys are supplied with the tractor. 

Ignition Key is standard XXXXXX Key 

Would it be acceptable? 

  We do accepted 2. separate keys, but the ignition key must be fully 

compatible with type 014603 



 

 48 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 

 

Required is: Internal LED light inside cabin 

Interior light is standard type – Would it be acceptable? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal.   Internal light must be LED only. 

 49 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 

 

Ignition Key is standard XXXXXX Key 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal. The ignition key must be fully 

compatible with type 014603 

 50 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 6.2. Lighting 

 

LED beacon lamp on the roof demonstrating seatbelt is 

fastened. We have this option available with a green 

continuous burning light. Would this be a suitable solution? 

 

  Please follow our specification:  

“LED beacon lamp on the roof, amber colour, demonstrating that 

seatbelt is fastened, i.e.: ON when the seatbelt is connected 

(locked)” 

We do not accept your proposal. 

 51 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 6.3 

 

Standard is: 

1x 12V accessory socket and 1x 24V accessory socket 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Please follow specification. 

“Two power cables with 12 [V], 10 [A] DC should be provided for 

installation place of IT equipment (as mentioned above). There 

should be a separate circuit from the fuse box with its own fuse”. 

We do not require accessory sockets but separate cables ready to 

be terminated with plugs specific to the installed equipment. 

We do not accept your proposal. 



 

 52 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 6.3 

 

Standard DIN radio mounting slot within drivers reach  

2 DIN slots are installed in the compartment underneath the 

cabin roof. 

  Yes – we do accept. 12V power should be provided to the 

compartment. 
 

 53 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 6.4 

 

 

2 position switch for lowering rear suspension - this button 

has a spring return operation. Would it be OK? 

  Yes – we do accept the button with a spring return.  

 54 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo 

TRACTORS 

6 Electrical Part 6.4 

 

Required is: Manual lubrication 

Standard: Engage of lubrication system is automatically 

Would it be acceptable? 

  Yes – we do accept the automatically working system. 

 55 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

8. Diagnostic Tools 

 

No additional diagnostic tools required.  

Accounts for Parts Online are available 

  Please refer to point 8 of specification. There should be possibility 

to calibrate sensors, transmission and other calibrated devices, 

maintain vehicle and i.e. to do SCR or DPF regeneration without 

additional services. 

 56 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

10. Technical documentation 

 

  Yes – we  accept under the condition of the possibility of printing a 

good quality in A1 format 



 

Drawings diagrams general assembly drawings will be provided 

in PDF format on CD.  

Terbeg will not deliver these in AutoCAD format or in any 3d 

drawing format. 

Would it be acceptable? 

 57 4x4 RoRO IMV TRACTORS and 4x4 HD RoRo TRACTORS 

10. Technical documentation 

 

Main documentation of IMV is delivered in Polish language. 

Only drivers manual is supplied in Polish. Parts and maintenance 

manuals only in English.  

Engine, transmission and axle supplier do not provide their 

manuals in Polish. 

Is it acceptable this point to provide documentation from 

engine, transmission and axle components in English? 

  Please follow our specification.  

We do not accept your proposal. 
 

 

58 

Technical Specification for 2x4 IMV Tractors 

Page 10: 5.11 Operator’s Cabin 

                -Door security lock opened with ignition key as 

described further, with possibility to leave them in open 

position. 

 Please explain more in details. …to leave them in open position? 

Don’t understand. 

  Door should have possibility of leaving them in open position by 

means of proper latch on chassis/ protective barriers to prevent 

them from closing when maintaining cab. 

 

59 

Technical Specification for 2x4 IMV Tractors 

Page 13: 7 Data Recording and Reporting 

                -We have to provide the Vehicle Tag (Token) and 

Vehicle transmitter for each IMV only. No other equipment. 

                Please confirm. 

  We confirm - the supplier should provide and assembly the Vehicle 

Tag (Token) and Vehicle transmitter for each IMV only. 

 

60 

Technical Specification for 2x4 IMV Tractors 

Page 14: 8 Diagnostic tools 

                -The software allows to: Calibration 

  Please refer to point 8. There should be possibility to calibrate 

sensors, transmission and other calibrated devices, maintain 

vehicle and i.e. to do SCR or DPF regeneration without additional 

services. 



 

                Calibration of the engine can only be done by the 

engine manufacturer 

 

61 

Technical Specification for 4x4 RORO IMV Tractors 

Page 8: 5.6 Wheels 

 -The mentioned size 11 R 22,5 or 12 R 22,5 do not hold 

the required 36 ton at the rear axle. 

 Based on a GCW of 120 ton, we need to install the 

correct tires, which is size 315/80 R 22,5. 

Page 14: 6.4.4 Operator’s dashboard 

 -…when ignition key is ON: Engine RPM indication 

 Engine rpm cannot be displayed if only ignition is on. 

Engine rpm can only be displayed when engine is running. 

  Yes – we accept tires, which is size 315/80 R 22,5 

 

Agreed. Engine RPM should be displayed when engine is running 

 

62 

Technical Specification for 4x4 HD RORO IMV Tractors 

Page 4: 2.1 Operation 

 -Connect to rigid drawbar for hauling by heavy duty 

register coupling on rear 

 Please explain if you talk about a separate drawbar 

coupling mounted at rear of the tractor of only about a towing 

pin at rear? 

  Please refer to attached picture: 

 

 
63 

Technical Specification for 4x4 HD RORO IMV Tractors 

Page 8: 5.6 Wheels 

  Yes – we  accept  tires, which is size 315/80 R 22,5 

 



 

 -The mentioned size 11 R 22,5 or 12 R 22,5 do not hold 

the required 36 ton at the rear axle. 

 Based on a GCW of 120 ton, we need to install the 

correct tires, which is size 315/80 R 22,5. 

 

 

64 

Technical Specification for 4x4 HD RORO IMV Tractors 

Page 14: 6.4.4 Operator’s dashboard 

 -…when ignition key is ON: Engine RPM indication 

 Engine rpm cannot be displayed if only ignition is on. 

Engine rpm can only be displayed when engine is running. 

  Agreed. Engine RPM should be displayed when engine is running 

No Question 

  

Answer 

 19 units of 4x2 terminal tractors. 

65 
4. General requirements: 

Fuel tank – please kindly accept 189 liters tank 

  We do accept 

67 
5.4.1. Front axle 

Please kindly accept turning angle of front axle of 44 degress 

  We do accept 

68 

5.4.2. Rear axle 

Please kindly accept 38 tonnes @ 20 km/h, usually axle manufacturers 

give data at 20 km/h. 

  Please specify what is the maximum Rear Axle load at 30 km/h 

69 

5.5. Wheels 

Please kindly as clarification only to this point accept Michelin tires 11 R 

22,5 mounted on 22,5x8,25’ rims 

  We do accept 

70 

5.7. Fifth wheel 

Please advise how the buzzer should be working. There are light 

indicators for king pin/5th wheel jaws locked and unlocked as standard. 

  Buzzer should be present if kingpin is present at 5th wheel but not 

properly locked (i.e. jaws are opened and not yet locked). 

71 
5.11. Operator’s cabin   We do accept 



 

Doors: please accept 2 doors per cabin, one on the left side on hinges 

and second in the rear of cabin, sliding type doors for perfect entrance 

to cabin and to rear tractor’s deck. 

71 

5.11.  Operator’s cabin 

Roof window: please accept fixed (not opening) roof window with 

dimensions 610x610 mm, tinted glass instead of sun blind. 

  We do accept 

72 

5.11.  Operator’s cabin 

Security system: please kindly inform what exact system is used in DCT 

nowadays. 

  We do not require it anymore. It was removed from specification 

73 

6.4. Operator’s dashboard – electrical equipment 

Please note that locking of king pin/5th wheel is done 

mechanically/automatically whenever tractor drives under trailer. There 

is no button for that operation. There is a single separate push button to 

unlock the jaws only. Please accept. 

  We do accept 

74 

7. Data recording system by Hectronic 

Please inform if it’s possible for DCT to purchase and mount the system 

yourself. Of course it could be assisted by service technician by tractor 

supplier. 

  We do accept – as long as there is proper wiring left for plugging 

system. 

75 

9.3.2. Platforms 

Entrance platforms in very safe design (antislippery) are in yellow color, 

painted. Very well visible. Please accept. 

  We do accept. 

76 

10. Technical documentation 

Spare parts catalogue translation into Polish is at least 6-7 thousands 

EUR. Workshop manual only from equipment manufacturer is even 

more. Please revise your answer and accept. These manuals are simple 

and very easy to understand. Translation would have to be calculated 

into this tender offer only as no one else ever requests that. 

AutoCad drawings are not available due to copyrights. PDF drawings 

(general machine drawings with main dimensions) is acceptable. Please 

revise and accept. 

  We accept spare parts catalogue in English. 

However please note that due to Machinery Directive 2006/42/EC, 

Annex I, Section 1.7.4 states: 

“ All machinery must be accompanied by instructions in the 
Official Community language or languages of the Member State 
in which it is placed on the market and/or put into service”  
Due to this, we do not accept delivering without translations as 
described in specification. 



 

We do accept PDF’s under the condition of printing possibility in a good 

quality in A1 format 

77 

6.4.1. Switches 

Please accept starting and shutting off the engine via ignition key, not 

push buttons. 

  We do accept – that is in our meaning “ignition switch”, with ignition 

key as described in specification 

78 

8. Diagnostics 

All eventual problems occurring with the machine can be checked from 

display in the cabin. There is no PC/USB delivered with the 

machine as such deep-into diagnostic equipment is reserved for 

components manufacturer only (Volvo, Dana as examples) or their 

written service partners. 

Checking and calibration for maintenance reasons can also be done from 

display in cabin. Please accept. 

As for online access to spare parts catalogues and ordering parts we have 

available a platform, that is no problem to connect DCT. 

  Please refer to point 8. There should be possibility to calibrate sensors, 

transmission and other calibrated devices, maintain vehicle and i.e. to 

do SCR or DPF regeneration without additional services. 

79 

6.4.3. Tire pressure monitoring system 

Please accept solution when pressure sensors are mounted on tire 

inflation valves and there is a reader in cabin showing drop of pressure 

above 0,5 Bar in any tire, not shows exact pressure in particular wheel. 

That is simple and robust solution and works both for tube type and 

tubeless wheels. 

  We do not accept. System should be showing exact pressure in each 

wheel separately. 

80 
3. Optional central greasing system 

Please accept Groeneveld system as per sketch below: 

  We do accept. 



 

 
 

 4 and 2 units of 4x4 and HD 4x4 terminal tractors. 

81 

2.1. Operation – snowplough 

Please clarify if your snowplough is of electric drive and does not require 

any hydraulics? 

  Yes – it does not need external hydraulics. We use OZAMET OZ-W 

82 

4. General requirements + 5.6 wheels 

Required 929 mm downheight of 5th is unfortunately impossible to reach 

with 4x4 tractors due to wheels sizes and rear axle mounting and its size. 

Please accept standard downheight widely used in such tractors of 1200-

1240 mm. That figure can be lowered while releasing pressure from rear 

  We do accept downheight 1200- 1240. 

We do not accept 11.00x20 tires and 8”x20 rims. 

GCW – we do accept. 



 

axle air suspension for eventual locking of trailer etc. as per standard 

terminal practices. 

Please kindly accept tube type 11.00x20/16PR tires on 8’’x20 rims. Those 

are widely used wheels on ro-ro type 4x4 tractors. 

GCW – please accept 115 tonnes GCW, this is limited by available 

transmissions on the market and is enough for even heavy duty 

operations in the terminals. 
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5.1. Engine 

Please accept stage 4 final engine (SCR AdBlue) as below: 

6 cylinders in line, 185 kW at 1800-2200 rpm, 7,7 liter, max torque 1160 

Nm @ 1200 rpm 

  We do accept this engine for 4x4 RORO tractors. 

For 4x4 HD RORO tractors please follow our specification. 
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5.2 Transmission 

Please accept Dana transmission with 4 gears fwd and 4 gears reverse + 

LOW/HIGH range = 8+8 gears. 

  We do accept 
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5.5.1. Front axle 

Please kindly accept turning angle of front axle of 48 degress 

  We do accept. 
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5.5.2. Rear axle 

Please advise what is meant by ‘transferring 100% of normal operation 

torque’? 

  Correction: it this point should state: “ The driven axle, transferring 50 -

70% of normal operation torque, equipped with the blockade of the 

differential mechanism”;  
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5.8. Fifth wheel 

Please advise how the buzzer should be working. There are light 

indicators for king pin/5th wheel jaws locked and unlocked as standard. 

  Buzzer should be present if kingpin is present at 5th wheel but not 

properly locked (i.e. jaws are opened and not yet locked). 
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5.12. Operator’s cabin 

Doors: please accept 2 doors per cabin, one on the left side on hinges 

and second in the rear of cabin, sliding type doors for perfect entrance 

to cabin and to rear tractor’s deck. 

  We do accept. 
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5.12.  Operator’s cabin 

Roof window: please accept fixed (not opening) roof window with 

dimensions 610x610 mm, tinted glass instead of sun blind. 

  We do accept 
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5.12.  Operator’s cabin 

Security system: please kindly inform what exact system is used in DCT 

nowadays. 

  We do not require it anymore- this was deleted from specification 
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6.3. Air conditioning 

Please accept fully automatic heating, ventilation and airconditioning 

system with buttons for fan speed, temperature and air distribution. 

Modern, ergonomic and operator friendly. 

  We do accept 
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6.4. Operator’s dashboard – electrical equipment 

Please note that locking of king pin/5th wheel is done 

mechanically/automatically whenever tractor drives under trailer. There 

is no button for that operation. There is a single separate push button to 

unlock the jaws only. Please accept. 

  We do accept. 
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7. Data recording system by Hectronic 

Please inform if it’s possible for DCT to purchase and mount the system 

yourself. Of course it could be assisted by service technician by tractor 

supplier. 

  We do accept – as long as there is proper wiring left for plugging sy 

stem. 
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8. Diagnostics 

All eventual problems occurring with the machine can be checked from 

display in the cabin. There is no PC/USB delivered with the 

machine as such deep-into diagnostic equipment is reserved for 

components manufacturer only (Volvo, Dana as examples) or their 

written service partners. 

Checking and calibration for maintenance reasons can also be done from 

display in cabin. Please accept. 

As for online access to spare parts catalogues and ordering parts we have 

available a platform, that is no problem to connect DCT. 

  Please refer to point 8. There should be possibility to calibrate sensors, 

transmission and other calibrated devices, maintain vehicle and i.e. to 

do SCR or DPF regeneration without additional services. 
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9.3.2. Platforms 

Entrance platforms in very safe design (antislippery) are painted. Please 

accept. 

  We do accept 
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10. Technical documentation 

Spare parts catalogue translation into Polish is at least 6-7 thousands 

EUR. Workshop manual only from equipment manufacturer is even 

more. Please revise your answer and accept. These manuals are simple 

and very easy to understand. Translation would have to be calculated 

into this tender offer only as no one else ever requests that. 

AutoCad drawings are not available due to copyrights. PDF drawings 

(general machine drawings with main dimensions) is acceptable. Please 

revise and accept. 

  We accept spare parts catalogue in English. 

However please note that due to Machinery Directive 2006/42/EC, 

Annex I, Section 1.7.4 states: 

“ All machinery must be accompanied by instructions in the 
Official Community language or languages of the Member State 
in which it is placed on the market and/or put into service”  
Due to this, we do not accept delivering without translations as 
described in specification. 

We do accept PDF’s under the condition of printing possibility in a good 

quality in A1 format 
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3. Optional central greasing system 

Please accept Lincoln system as per description below: 
- Reservoir/pump unit - electrically operated. 

- Integrated timer adjustable for: 

 Off time from 1 to 15 hours 

 On time from 2 to 30 minutes 

- Manifolds and meters 

- Tubing fittings and accessories 

- The timer activates the electric pump, forcing the lubricant into the tubing that distributes 

grease to the manifold blocks, with feed each meter mounted in the block. 

- Electric pump dispenses lubricant at a rate of 2.4 cm3/min (0.146in3/min) 

- Each meter, in turn is sized to measure and dispenses the proper amount of grease through 

its lube line to the fitting. 

- A standard single axle truck has 28 lube points.  

Front Left points 

§ Front of draglink (mech. steering) 

§ Rear of draglink (mech. steering) 

§ Tie rod end 

§ Upper kingpin 

§ Lower kingpin 

§ Slack adjuster 

§ S-Cam bracket  

Front Right points 

§ Tie rod end 

§ Upper kingpin 

§ Lower kingpin 

§ Slack adjuster 

§ S-Cam bracket 

5th wheel lube points 

§ LH boom pivot 

  We do accept 



 

§ RH boom pivot 

§ LH upper cylinder 

§ RH upper cylinder 

§ LH 5th wheel pivot 

§ RH 5th wheel pivot 

§ Top plate LH front 

§ Top plate RH front 

§ Top plate LH rear 

§ Top plate RH rear 

Rear axle points 

§ LH lower cylinder 

§ RH lower cylinder 

§ LH Slack adjuster 

§ LH S-Cam bracket 

§ RH Slack adjuster 

§ RH S-Cam bracket 
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2.1. Operation 

Please inform more about coupling in the back of the tractor. Is below 

solution acceptable? 

 Trailer coupling VBG 8500 

The coupling is mounted on reinforced rear bumper instead of standard 50 mm towing pin. It can be 

locked automatically to the trailer’s coupling eye and unlocked manually. 

- max. pulling force 190 kN 

- intended for drawbar eyes 50 mm 

- length 300 mm from rear bumper 

- turning angle according to ISO 1102 standard 

- rubber plates to damp movement between  tractor and trailer 

- in case of accident (trailer turns over), coupling can rotate  360° 

  Please refer to attached picture: 
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4. Fuel tank 

Please accept 200 liters fuel tank. 

  We do accept. 
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3.2. Optional – ballast weight 

Please clarify what ballast is needed for what drawbar force on rear 

coupling as in above question no. 18? Scope 8 to 20 tonnes is too much. 

  Ballast weight should be of min 12 tonnes. 

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    


